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MISSING PAGES 

t that eouthet corner of park Avehue and. 410 Street 

a hotel? A Yesfeir; the „Murray Hill Rotel. 

Q The opposite side corner, the west side of Park Avenue, 

there is another hotel? A Yes,§1r. 

Q hat was the name of that? A The Belmont Hotel. 

Q Now where was it standing this machine when you saw it? 

Partly in front of.56 and partly in front of the delivety. 

. entiance of the Murray Hill Hotel. 

Q The south side of the street? A Yea,eir. 

Q Now you saw the defendant and three others near 

machine? A Ye-9,81r, two others. 

Q What did they do? A They picked this wheel up. 

0 What do you mean? A A wheel, a wire wheel and a tire on 

it. 

At what part of the car was it attached? A To the rear 

part • 

Q Now where were you when you• sag this defenda.rit do that? 

was in the doorway_ of 23 East 41st Street. 

Q Now did this third man follow the two other men had had 

the wheel, who removed the wheel? A Yes sir. 

What did they then do? They rolled it to a taxicab that 

was standing .in front of 56 East 41st Street. 

Q The south side or north side of the street? ,A The south 

sid.e of the street. 

Q Faring east or west? A Yesosir, west. 

Towards you?.A Yes sir. 



You. were on the *north -side of the street? 

Was the street lighted? A Yes,sir. 

Where were the lights? A One street lamp in the block 

about, it wasn't .exactly opposite the taxicab but a little to 

right angle to the taxicab in front of the rear house. 

Q Was the taxicab within the arc of the lights? A Yes,s 

0 What kind of a light was it? A A regular street lamp, 

an illuminating are light. 

Q On a pole? A res,sir. 

AZ With .a curve? A Yes sir. 

Towards  the atreet? A Yes ;sir. 

Q What did they do with that at the time? A Rolled it up 

this cab, placed it inside the rear part of the taxicab. 

Q What did you see the defendant do? A He got in the 

cab which was starting west on East 41st Street. when it got 

to where I was I stopped it. 

Q Now tell the jury what happened? A I stopped the 

taxicab and I said "Where are you going with this tire or shoe" 

I called it, and he said,uwhat shoe" and I then ordered him out of 

the cab, looked in there and seen this wheel lying up right on 

the floor, partly on the seat: I wrapped for assistance. Officer 

Daley came. I left him with the defendant and I made inquiry in 

the Murray Hill Hotel and the Belmont Hotel to. try and find the 

_owner of the machine; I could not g21 find him at that time. I 

brought the taxicab and the tire and the four-defendants to the 

Station House. nsley was left there and he brought in the Owner 



f- the machine in the,morning to the _Station 'House:- - 

Q How far had the taxicab moved from the time they p aced 

the wheel in it, how far .was it moved until it got in front of 

you? A About 125 feet or 150. 

Q Did they stop at once? A Yes,sir. 

Q Did the defendants get out? A Three got out,, the driver 

kept sitting on the 

Q Was this defendant one of the three? A YesIsir; the 

driver sat--"on the box and made an effort to. start up again. After 

the three defendants were out I had to threaten to shoot him as he 

did not stop. 

Q He did then stOp? a Yes,sir. 

Q ,Did you have talk Nith these men? A No,sir. 

• 
Q At that time? A Noosir. 

Q Any further conVersation? A 

Q Or at the Station House? A Moosir. 

CROSS EXAMINATTONDY MP.OUNNINCHAMt 

Q Now, Of fi-cer, you have testified that you-were standing 

in. the doorway of 23 East 41st" Street? f- Yeessir. 

-Q Ts that colrect? A. Yesoir. 

0 And that the automobile in which this wheel and shoe, 

that is the shoe mounted on a wheel was stolen frOm was situated 

in front of 58 East 41st Street? A Yes,sir. 

Q The south aide of the street? A Yes,sir. 

• What is the dietance from Madison Avenue, to Park Avenue 

on East 41st Street? A I shout' judge a little over 300 feet.• -



41st Street? 

the distance -from 23 East 41st Street to 58 Nis 

About 150 feet. 

•Q There is a difference of 35 numbers, isn't therebetween 

• 23 East 41st Street? A Ye-slair. 

0 And 58 East 41st Street? A About that. 

Q 35 numbers? .A - Yestsir., 

Q Each .number haA a frontage of 25 feet? A Well. on the one 

- side As the Manhattan Storage warehouse. 

Answer the uestion,Office±, a difference of 35 numbers  

'ibetween No. 23-Est.41st-treet i:here you were standing and. NO. 

58 Eaet 41st Street An front of which the automobile Was standine 

A .(No answer.). 

1. Each building, or each number-has a frontage, of 25 feet 

isn't that so? A Tn that nei3-hborhood thera is clubs and ware,. 

houses. 

Q Answer my -luestirkn yes or no? A No,sir. . 

Q rtInvt It a fact that nUcTher 23. 'Fast 41st Street is located 

between Madi30 and Fifth  Av9nue? A NO,-811, 

rl It...is not? A Nosir;, it ts not, 

• Q What is your anwer !:o that particular question -- Isn't 

it a fact that No. 23 Nastl the doorway in Which yctrwere standing 

according to your testimony is not located between Madison -Said 

Fifth Avenue. Now be fair, .nfficsr, think Officero what is your 

best. recollection? 

THE (70T114T: Let..hidi answer. 

I made a mistake, It might be 43. 

- t • 

- 



011WN-

You made a mistake? A Tf I made a mistake. 

Q You .acknowledge that? A Yes,sir. 

Q Positive you were standing in the doorway of 43? A Yesoir. 

Q East 41st Street? A Yesoir. 

43 is occupied by what kind of business? A Well it has 

since been I don't know -- there was a wine store in there at. 

that •time. 

Q I mean on this .Jay, July 17th? A A wine store. 

Q What name did it bear? A I think it was Chianti Wine 

" mpany., 

Q How many feet east of Madison Avenue is 43 East 41st Street? 

About 100, between 75 and 100. 

Q What is the number of the first entrance on East 41st 

Street east of Madison Avenue.? Alt must be 41. 

Q 41? :f I Ifms in 

Q 43 viould be the second building? A Yes,sir. 

Q 1n13ast 41cit.Thre :ast of Madison Avenue? .A Yes,sir. 

Genarally ther the frontage. is 25 feet? A Yes,sir. 

On that portion.of East 41st Street/ 'A  Yes sir. 

So that At was 50 feet? A Yes sir.. 

Q From the coiner to the house wese,t it? A Yes,sir, well 

the corner has n6 building -- it doesn't take in any one building. 

Q, All right?. . A It ia an, bfflge blinding ...,- on the ground. 

:floor a clothing 43 -tore occil.pi0. by Benjamin. 



You 'claim them that the' dooiway of 43 East 41st• Str 

was aPrroximatali—ZP-Iim -153et of Madison-Avenue 

75 and 100. 

Q How fax distant were you then from No. 58 East 41stcStreet-

in front of which number this automobile was standing? A About 

150 feet. 

From 43 to 58 that makes a differ naeof 15 numbers? A Yes —

Q Of course making allowance for the. lternate numbers on 

the other side of 1,1a.street 25 feet ,frontage'for_each 

would be ap-roximateiy eight number.? A 

waa 

Q That-wouid be 2QO feat?  A Y 

Yea it. 

Q You were standing then 200 feet fromwhere- the autotobile 

located? A I oouldn't 4ay that. 

Q You have.aaknowledge that try acidulation is correat. You 

told us th5,:t you werefigq_lring pn a- 25foot frontage? A That 

doesn't say --

Q Is At mOre or 1,e3se? A eil there Is a club there on 

.one sidoo an apartMnt house next to that and on the:north,side of 

41st Street a storage 

Plaah number gett. 

25 feet. 

warehouse. 

5 feet frontage?. A Well it m 

You 7/(.. arprozcimately 200 feet from this automobile? A I 

shoulft judge about 150 feet.. 

Q.:NOw you have testified that you saw three mon rolling 
-

thethe wheel? A Yeeosir. 

Q It was 3 A. Y. in ' morning? ft Yes air. 



e only means of illumination wie a be  (if light 

thromiout by a n are light? 'A ,Yes air. 

Q Shut up on the north side of 41st Street? 

-Q Sothe distance west of where the automobile wae 

your 6,in testimony is at an angle? A Yesosir.. 

Q Isn't that so? A Yesosir. 

Q So thst /au were In the dark and this automobile was in the 

dark, wasn't -it? A Tell, noseir, in the arc of this street lam!). 

Q Now did the arc of this light illuminate the servants, 

entrance to .the Park Avenue Hotel? A No0sir. 

Didn't you testify that the automaile was standing nearer 

to the servants' entrance of .the Park Avenue Hotel? A I testified 

it -was ,standing partly in front of No. 58. at 41st .Street and the 

deliVery entrance of the Murray Hill Hotel. 

Now, could you .f5.istingUisb the feeturesof men'at the time 

. they were in the automotile? A on which automobile? 

Q The automobile from which you allege the wheel and tire 

were stolen? P 

, Q 

ocultt not. 

0ould you from where you were standing ascertain whether or 

not the men were white men or colored ren? " could, yes,sir. 

Q You could? Yes,eir. 

Q You could see they Fhite men? yes 17., 

But you could not ma.k out their features? A No,sir. 

Q Isn't it .a fact that ,r,ur identification of this defendant 

:here is based on the nortunity you bed to obeerve his features 

at the tl-- you st.vp7ed that taxicab? A Y s 



. via 

Q That is $o, 1snt it? A Yes.,sir. 

Q And not upon the fact that you could distinguish his 

features when the wheel was being taken and rolled? A Nossir. 

Q As you Add? A Nossir. 

Now Officer, at the time you state you saw this wheel 

being taken were' there any persons passing along the south %yak On 

•E4st-4-1--s-t----St-r-e-e-t? A No ,sir.: 

Q Will you positively swear to that? A Yes,sir. 

Q 'wasn't your attention concentrated solely upon that 

automobile? A But if you were looking at a part and something 

passed it, I guess you could see it if it passed. 

Q That is a mere guess? A No,sir, that is no guess. 

sQ Now are you willing positively to state that no person 

passed east or west on that south walk? A Yes sir. 

Q Positive as to that? A Yesisir. 

Q Number 56 -East 41st Street is adjacent to this building 

in front of which the building as standing and was occupied by 

• 
a. saloon on the ground floor? A Yes,sir. 

Q Isn't -It a fact that peorle were entering and leaving 

that saloon at that time? A I didnot- see anyenter or leave, during 

the -ttme that was observing these men. 

Q • Your entire though wee co.ncentrate_ Upon that machine; 

Isn't that so? A . 

And peOple. could. have left? 4 Yes,Ir, Could have seen, 

them if they either entered or left the aide door.  

Q :You werenot 'looking for them'. 



•• ti • r A, • V' ;MOO ,V,F.4.001,74.7 le • 

:Any other automobiles dXSWA at the south 14rb?-4t. 

Any.autOmobiles 4tawn- up at the north cUrbZ A Np,e 

,Q At that timeT-A O,sir. 

CI DId any autoMobilAs pass throUgh that street? A NO,airj the 

did' not.. 

Q. At that time? A Nolsir, 

Q.: Now, Officer, the real readon why you stepred into that: 

doorway was tecausd it was. raining, isn't that so.? A' No-,sir... 

-Q Wasnst it raining? A No,sir. 

Q Didn't we have thick weather that morning? A. Nolosir. 

Q- Did you wear your rain clothest A NO sit, I did not,. 

°Q Positve about that? A.PosilAve about ).t. 

.0 At the time you saw these men remove the wheel as -Om 

st.ate did you make any effort•to apprehend them at that precise 

time? A N.04,sit. 

Q. What assuranoedid you 11,1Ve that these men would roll that 

wheel in your directic‘n rather than in the other direction? A Well, 

I had to .take hance. 

You were takinke:chande? A Yedoir. 

Q As a Policeman' youare-sworn to prevent Crime, aren't you? 

yes,air. 

Os. As a Police Officer you a,..Te obliged , men 

im-dedin the.-perretrtion Tofcrime aren't you? A Ye,51r. 

youthat yvar entir attentio.r.-vv.IS ,7oncentrated. 

uPon what these men were doing, isntt-thet so? L Ires,sii. 

When they rolleo the wheel, as you state west.on the 



wimNeirom‘ 
TP717, 

•',..,40frgie; 

sidewalk to ,he cab1 t you were on:the north sid.ewil. 

wasn't there A 'period of time when that -taxicab Obstructed them 

from your view? A Yes,air.' 

Q There was a period of time? Yes,sir. 

Q When your view was obstructed, isn't that so? A Yes sirft 

Q At that time people may have entered and left that . 

saloon? At didn't see any. 

They.may-have though, may they not? A I could have 

them if they did. 

Q, Your attention 4aLe concentrated upon these particular -
 e 

individuale, isn't that so:? A Yes„sir. 

This defendant did not resist you, when you attempted to 

.arrest hlmi A .Nossi. . 

0 gay I ask.you how old you are? A 28 years old. 

Are you married? A yes sir,-, 

0 The father of children? A. One. n 

.Pow :long have you been married?. A in  years, 

.Q 'Nine years? A Yessire 

*You eent o the 'Police Force nineteen months ago? A Yes sirs 

0 At that time we were at war, weren't  we? 

Objected to. 

T9  (70UPT: Excluded as immaterial,. 

-q Now, Officer, you were 200 feet a.way.from the automobile, 

-on the mmth side of the street? A No,air, 

MoqUATD: I object to that. 

Q You testified that you were 175 feet? L 150 feet. 

, 



- -.sow**. "nowlholacank."ras*,.,.. " .410.** ..r• vs • . ,RooloAr. • 

Q 150 feet? Yes e 

, .. 

Q You were on the north side of the street in 'the doorway. 

was.. 

Q And there was this arc light? A Yes,sir. 

Q Between you and this automobile? YesIsir, 

Q And this automobile was in the dark also on the south 

of the street? A In the arc of this 

Q Partially in the arc? A Yes,sir. 

0 Ten thaT; so? A Yealeir. 

Q DO you say then, that you, "in the dark, you had :to _100X 

through this barrier of light into another partially dark:light' 

and that you could eee all these things. 

Objected to:. Objection . sustained. 

THF nOUPT: Leave out the word "barrier.° 

Q Your testimony then is that while standing in this doorway 

in ths dark that your vision perbitted you, through. thia beam -Of 

light shut by the arc light, to see -wit !72 particular distinctness 

everything that happened on that automobileTA Yes air. 

Q Is that so? 4. Yeetair. 

Q You made no attemrt to arrest these men while doing that? 

A No, sir. 

Q; You didnit have any assurance that this 'taxicab would come 

in to your direction? A No ,1r. 

BY M. McQUAID: 

Did any passenger get in or out of that taxio-ab from. 

6-



•••• • ' t . e e 

Jae you saw the three men get in after they put the !piheel 

,o the time when the taxicab reached the r-laco oppoaite wlare 
M1 

you Stood? A Only the defendsint _got in. 

After they 

or out? ANo,1r. 

BY trHE ("CURT: 

got in did the taxicab atop to let anybody in 

Th16 rlefeja-lant hooreffsfer got in the t'3xi.cab? 

By ,rp. MoOTJATII: 

Y 

Q You '6 ay. four view wias obstructexi by the taxi:•ab? A  

*11 Jit yirlain to the jury what you rcaari by- your view being 

obetructed.? A Probably. tcut five aeconds of time it took them 

to_ialk from the rear of the cab, pase ths ctib„ to gst t the-' 

front door of the cab; it w.e.e only- a ehor'  tire that -Th. t was, . 

just the 'eta-pa to get t,:'; 

BY JUr-(01R. 

.wee your view obstructed by th.- taxicab 

throupt the :or you cou1i.have seen their.? A Te-a 

if you looked 

M AE t PT W., M A H F„ a, witnase called on behalf of the 

ef:Iplet being dul.y rn, testifie,3. as follow's: 

(Tbe .4itneSs states she resirlet3 in Brookline, Massachusetts.) 

Nic_QUATT): 

Q Dc yon. rametcber ../ne 1et.7:1 of July;. 1919? Ye3,eir: • 

Did y''.11 i ve •  121 a'utir-,,mobtle in 41st 9 tts.A that night or 

• day? A Yes,sin 

Thslt kind of: or .Nas it3 • Marmon. 



Q A five paaaenge touring or what? A% Semi..roadste 

Q What part of 41st Streit did you leave it in? A 

Madison and Park Avenue, the righthand side going towards Park, 

Q What time did you leave it there? A About eight o 

in the night. 

Q he  you left it there did you have a -spare wheel on it? 

Yeessir. 

Q.Was there anything on the .spiare wheel? A Mounted With 

a tire and tube. 

Ani.riner tube and wheel.? A :Si  

Q Tell the jury Where that was mounted? A On the rear of 

the oar. 

• Q Wa tt fastened to the oar? A Yesosir, it..goes on with: 

a wrench and hub that s'.3rc” in, fastened that w y. 

Q ?711en you left your oar there at eight o'clock on the 

night of July 16th las the spare tire on it? A Yes air. 

Q e1t on it the ie:ct morning? A No4sir. 

'There. did you.soe it the next morning? A in the 

Station House. 

tihool? Did you recognize it as.th 

M7. .7TJNTENGHAMt. T 'ob:jeot to that: 

Q You iaentiSied you.  Toprtf. 

Objected. to. ,;Iction ovrnftr)d: 

Q. 

Q. 

What kind 

What kind 

tiro Tao it? A Goolyelx cTori. 

tube was. 1.t?• • A• Goodyear tube. 

What size gas it?AIdnLremembe! 34/ 



' 
"„hor r 

47 A 32 or, 34'b 

Rave .you bought similar tubes to the one 

A ves,sir. 

Objected to. Objection overruled. Exception. 

What did you pay? 

Objected to. Objection overruled. rkeer_tion. 

AI paid 158 for the shoe. 

Q What is that? 

MR. CUNN1NCHAY: I object to that. 

'Objection overruled. Exception. 

For the cor6 shoe. 

BY THE (TUPTi 

1 Di.I you ,buy these in the open.market?-

Did you know 4-he reasonable market value of sho3s? A Yeeos 

. such as you had an the tight in luesuidt? A. IresSit. 

THE flOURT: I object to that. 

saya she has bouht shoes nd. the price' 

she has paid for .tbe 1..3 some evidence of value. 

MP rITLYNINGRAI: The Penal '-'0derequires the establishment. 

of the market value. 

THE 'CURT: ;oes net require that 1..t all. requires 

that the market vaitie o n article :!..%y be 7roved or-f3hould be 

proved but th,i 1a4 the pri:-,e paid for n rticle to go 

in'evidenqe because At has bni. that it ia -'ice evidence 

of value. 



44,404 • •••••••••• '••••••••••••••• ..•••••••• ' •••:•••••;!...,•••• 
littr,,rNr • •71 nrtstr. 

•>,,,•ftpdsi.,,,•.•41M..410/••• 

. 1UNNINGHAM: Some.evidenoe of value but it 

conclusive 'proof of value. 

THE COURT; T.will allow it. 

MR. t'UNITINGHAM: T take an exception to your Honor's 

ruling. 

THE WITNE5S: 15 .:fou asked me what had been paid for 

the cord tube. I have seen a bill for that partiaular tube and 

HQW long have you had t hat tire? About threeor four 

Q. Had it been used at all? A Not that I k-now--01-.7:-

Q, A. new. tire? A .yes 

.BY TUT rTTBT: 

Tas the inner tube taken? A Yesosir. 

Q lAhat kind of an inner tube was it.? 4 A Goodyear. 

Q id .you know the reasonable market value of such tubes 
pn 

as you had on that ocoasioAajthe day that you missed it? 

Objected to. Objection overruled. Exception. 

yesosir, I have seen the bill for that parlicular tire and tube,,... 

Q Did y0';a know-.what, they cost in the.open market? A yea sir. 

Q What? About 9, I think .4`,7 to 39. 

OR 4S EYA'ITNATInN C!13NNINGHAM4 

Q Mrs.•Matherv-may I ask you tne full name of.. your husband?. 

A Philip Richard ,Mather, 

Q On July 17th, 1919; iqhere lid you reaide 7,1Pase? A We 

.wera staying at the Belmont Hotel. 



- 
Tisk 1.114111111hr qhe..h4;oh.,hoNN..WPO.,,,4iahobhllhrOalh;W.W. relc1.0111M4.%.7r.;. , 

re was your p 

:legal address? 

4 -Term it that if you wiah? A Cleveland, Ohio, 

I underStOOd you teatify just now that you resided in 

-.BrOoklinef,- Massachusetts? A Yesosii, 

Q • Is that so? -.41 Yea•etra 

Q 'With .your llusband7 A Ye S , sir. 

Q Your husband did not appear as tht-3. complaining witness 

this caee. in the Mqp21strate s rtourt did he? _A No • Sir 

Q Is he here in this court today? A No/031r. 

Q. bid he cOme to New York with you? A Yeso,sir. You Mean 

today? 

Q. May I ask. you what his .businessie? A He is a student 

at Harvard Un-iVer el ty 

Q .•Novi you have testified that you left the -automobile in 

question 'on'East 41st Street? _A Yesosir. 

Q In what direct ion did the automobile face at the time you 

left it there? A East . 

Q East? YeSsair. 

Were you driving the car? A T don't remember. 
• ,L 

Was anyone iith you? A My husband. 

Q What part of the.. car were you seated in? A vie1:1 • in cfne of 

• the front seats. 

Q In one of the. front seats? A Yes, sir. 

Your -14,tention as  at the time you left the machine to 

go to the Hotel Belmont? A- Yesosir.. 



•••••• ss. .••• .0.1•••,• ••••••., '• • "••,. • • •••• vr'••••• 

?ark Avenue', did- you not? A yesssir . 

Q The back of the car was away from you to 

wasn't that . so? 4 Yes,Zir.: 

Q You have testified that the wheel was on the' back of the 

-car 'at the time your left it? A Yea,air. 

Q How did you know that? A We turned the lights on because 

ards •the wes 

we were  leaving it in the evening; we had, gone around to, zee If all 

. the lights were lighted.; I am _sure I would hsve, noticed it if the 

wheel had been gone.. 

0. when Aid .you turn on the 114htla? A As we left the car. 

Now you left the car et eight Odlorlk in the evening? 

- ires 91r. . _ 

IV as 

Q That was on the 17th day of July? A Yesosir. 

Q Isn't that so? A Yeelsir. 

0 It was then rather -- the leth day. of July? A Yesosir; it 

1•011• 

Q Broad daylight, wasn't it? A Yes,sir. 

Q Nov,- I understood, you to say, Mrs. Mather, that when you 

alighted  from the max.-Aline you immediately proceeded at towards 

Park Avenue? A Afterlcoking to see if the lights were lighted. 

Q Who bought this automobile? A It was bought by my 

husband's father. 

Q By- yr.,ur husband's father? A Yes, sir. 

,lad he pay for it by oheok or in cash? A I don '.t -know 



.Did ,h  ever •sell it 

to your husband? 1. No 

Are you the.owner of it? a With my husband. 

when you say you were the owner with your husband , what 

do you mean by that? A Mr. Math r gave it to my husband and Myself. 

He ve it t 

At tly, time he gave it to you did he say -- whs. did he 

T. McQUATD:J object - to that as immaterial.. 

TIT7C'TnT:- Question excluded. 

.7?1i-yciu. ray -any money to him for It? Aft 

M qUATIT: T objet to that.he ii It 

71-17 rIOURT: 8b-e says no. T will Jet. 'the anawe 

PIT MR. PUNITTWIJAM: 

time the machine was given you and your hus.,-

band resieed in tbe 3tte of 9hio„ did you not? A Yesoir. 

rrl!e licx-nee 'vas taken out in the Si-te of Ohio, was it, not? 

Q '41Tho procured that licemse? A .71: think It waS procured by 

enir Mr..Mather's chauffeur in my husband's name:. 

Tn your husband's tame? A Yes sir 

i8ntt the owner required to take out the 1icene? r• do 

741R. mUNNINGITAk: 
THE rrTIP"11: What is the examination?/TO 



THt.f.Nountl Suppose she was* not. .f she had the custody 

Of it that is sufficient if the car was in he  care an 
• 

custody. 

MP. CUNNINGHAM: But the padictment alleges, if your 

Honor please, that the property was owned by her, by 

this lady. 

THT IOURT: She had a special property in that car if it 

Was in her custody on the day in question; she had a: special 

property in it. 

MP. flUN17INCHAM: BUt her testimony is 

-_THE lOURT: Taking* ny property from that car was 

stealing from her. 

MR.riUNI7NOPAM: But the testimony discloses that her 

husband was present with her in the car end if he is the 

owner necssarllY the indictment falls 

THE onTIRT; No, it:does not fall. T would not so  rule. 

tTN7TYORAM: The personto be here and testify' 

would be the husband.: 

FT mOUPT: h5 said'the ler was qiven to her and to 

her husband and in addition to that she said it Was put in 

410t Street :by her, She was ther- that time in custody of 

the (lax end she had a special prorerty in that car. 

Txception. 

BY MR. NLINNINCT4M:-• 

Now, Mrs, Mather pouldyou lawfully sell that, automobile 

to s strngerT: 

McQUAla; I object to that. 

, 



fr ....rave... • A.." 

THE COURT: That - is .a question of law. 

o ask h r to determine that. 

Exception. 

• M. CUNTINORAM: It is a question of the ownership and T 

think it ie proper. 

THE COURT: Question excluded. 

Exception. 

Q This wheel and shoe and tube irn question, did you 

over identify it as your property? A Yes,eir. 

Q When? A When,!:saw it at the StationTause at 30th Street 

that morning. 

Howdid you identify ita by  what name? A. It was mounted on 

a Marmon wheel, it Was ths same make' as the one which we had. 

Q It was the same ak 7 W ves,sj.r. 

Didnot your wheel have a serial number? A The wheel? 

Q The tirea'didn't a number appear upon sots .portion of the 

shoe or tha tube or the tire or. the wheel? A Yea sin-

g' Dia You identify it by that number? A No sir. 

!q. Could you identify it by the number? 'A Noasir. 

Q lthatwas shown to you Was a wheel that you thought looked 

like your wheel, isn't that 3 fact? A Yes,sir. 

Q You did not positively say it was your wheel, did You? 

Well, T don't remember. 

Q Can you now positively say that it was your wheel -- the 

wheel isn't here -- that you say is yours? • Noosir. 

Q You cannot positively say that the wheel you saw wae the 



—.11C6111411tof,-. 

el that was on. the automobile, can you? A Noesir, 

Q Do you knew where the wheel is now? veS,S 

Q The wheel that ia alleged to have been Stol n from the 

automobile? 1 I ddn't. know'. 

YOudonotl A No,sir. 

(7) The wheel that'was exhibited to'yoU and hown 

could not positively swear that that was the wheel that 

automobile, can yOul A Npt by verifying it by the numb 

Q You would have to verify it• by the number7A I couldet 

do th t. 

.You could not do that? A No 

,Now, Mrs. Mather, you have stated that you. are familiar 

with the market price n f such articles; are you? Yes,sir. 
. . 

Q You are familiar? Yesleir. 

Q .Are you in that business? A No. 

You. are not in that bi:Isinese? A NO$13iT0 

What is your business? A -T haven't any. 

You.haie0t ay? K No,atT, 

Q You - area married lady? find yo ,.7 have your household 

isn't that ao? A Yes,air. 

Q You never engaged in the'caracity of purchasing automobilesi 

accessories and so forth? A Yes sir; T have purchased them. 

Q But you never engaged in that capacity for conpensation? 

Nossir.  4-

Q You are not familiar with the market prices of such 



articles? A To some extent,not definitelY. 

Q Well some extent, what extent? A Well know that  

a small tire, a fabric tire could not cost SA much as a cord 

tire. 

Q YOU mean to say thepricee you have par for such things, 

that has:been your experience? A Yes,sir. 

Q . But the prices that you have paid for these articles 

you were not positive that that was the reasonable market values, 

wore You? A I truated 

Q  •Ybu Could have been defrauded at the time you made these 

purchases? Al could have been. 

Surely those things happen? I Ye, sir. 

Q The most that you say therefor is that the price 10 

a fair and reasonable market price? ... I have seen the bill for 

this particular tire and tube and I know how nuch it cost 

Q But you didn't have any assurance that the price that 
an 

You were charged was no/exorbitant one, were you? A he price 

everybody rays for -tires. 

Q Oen you speak for everybody? A No,sii% 

Q You really don't mean that.My question is you didn't 

have any means of knowing - h.-ther the price You were charged 

- was exorbitant or not, isn't that so? It 19 the price that 

other people pay for tires generally. 

.Q 0*het people pay for them generally, how can you speak 

for otherpeople? 'A -Well because I have been with other people 

whenH.they bought them. 



'have been? A 

Q  This wheel in question alleged to have b,ep stolen, who 
• ,

 
the 

purchased that wheel? A It came witA/car. 

Q It came with the. ear? A Yesoir. 

Q :so-vas-y.0:u did not bty it/ did you? A No eir, 

You did not know how.Muah was paid for it? A No.osir 

Q Yousdonst know now? A Noosir. 

n How 'mUCh was paid for it, isn't that 4. fact? A 

the -Separate itema of the car re not listed in this bill. 

You cannot state then ,how much was paid for that wheel 

and tire, pan you? A -T can for :the:tire, not for. the Wheel. 

You are awar, Mrs. Mather, that on July 16th, 1919, 

when you and yOur husband left that automobile remain in the 

public street for seversl hours unattended,. that you violated 

the lew? 

Objected to. Question excluded. 

BY MR. McQUAID: 
„ 

4.4 The next. morning you found somebody in charge of your 

car? A yes„sir. 

The Police Officer? A Yesosiro an Officer. 

Q Yon:re taken on to the Police station? A yesosir. 

There vou saw this wheel tire and tube? A Yeslair. 

Q 'las a Marmon wheel I understood you to say? A yesoeir. 

Q, And a Goodyear -cord tire? A Yesosir. 

Q Did you look at the inner tube? A Noosir. 

0 
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MR. MoilUAID:, e rest. 

MR. CUNNINGHAM. ; move to dismiss the indictment o 

the ground that there has not been any identification 9f• 

the alleged stolen property. 

THE COURT: I want the Offider back here Aho testified. 

.NT'LLIAM H.MILBDRY, recalled: 

BY THE COURT: 

Q-- Officer,when you say :the defendant with others take 

the wheel from the car which you s wIn 41st -Street where 

take it to? A They rolled it to the taxicab. 

Now-did you afterwards 89..3 tha:t wheel in thetaxicab? 

Q. Was that 7heel. afterwards identified by Mrs. Mather? 

Yes,Sir. 

• MR. 7UNNTNOHAM: object to that. I walls for -the 

witnsfes conclusion. 

THE COURT:-I.am asking the questions. YOu may take 

your Itjection „rid- exception 

.Q Now what did she do when she went to the Station House? 

A I was not at the Station House at ,e tim,. Patraman Daley 

took her to the Station Houso. 

Was it the ea m .ahsel which AaB taken from the automobile 

in 41st Street that afterwards was taken to the Station House?. . 

A Yesiosir.. 

MR clUNFINGHAMt Now, if .your- Honor 'lease, I'move'-to 

• 



, , 

dismiss the indictment upon the ground that there has been 

no competent legal identification of the alleged stolen 

property and on the further ground that the evidence produced 

by the People is insufficient to warrant a conviction. 

mOve for the direction .of a.verdict of acquittal- and 

further move to dismiss the indictment upon theground that 

there is a variance between the allegations in the indictment 

as to ownership and the proof. 

THE nOURT: Let us see what the proof 41s. _The lady here 

testifies that on the night of the day in luestion an auto& 

mobile las left in East 41st Street and at that time there 

was a wheel on the rear of theautomobile. The Officer 

test/filed that at 3 A. M. he saw this defendant with others 

tube; that he saw this defendant take the tire to a taxicabs 

that he: wentover there and saw the tire in the taxicabs that 

the tire that was in the taxicab tas the tire that was taken 

from the car which stood in cast 41st Street. Why isn't there 

a case here? 

MR. riUMNINOHAM: Where is the tire alleged to have been 

stolen? It is not produced in this 0ourt. 

TY,17 "nTIRT: T will deny your motion 12 

P. rTUTNOTTAM: Identification is one of the ingredients 

of the crime of larceny. 

Motion denied. Exception. 



. • t 01011,, • , • Nrdi y • NO-

RE I LL Y, (the defendant gives his nine' 

as Thomas J. Reardon), . defendant being duly sworn, 

testifies as follows: 

DIRECT agaNATION BY RR. CUNNINGHAV: 

You have been indicted here .xs Reilly? 

k. CUNNING:SAY I informed the Court yesterday 

at th e t e c o,F e was called th5t the name 

fictitious and I requested that the record be changed.. 

0, Reilly 1. a fictitious .:%1.Ftme? A Yes, sir. 

(Th- -vitness states he lives EAt 348 East 137th street) 

DIR CT .47,0 I N \.T:r ON 'BY VP.. C'Utz41 I : 

Q„

 

Nw, ! . eas•don, ep1 up E.:0 th,t this tw:elfth juror 

mte.v hear you? A Yes, si-r. 

At the time you YrCre a-restect, why did you give the 

neml of Feilly? A Fell, I Cl idn, t want to 'disgrace my wife 

,3nfmiIv, 0'111 cir en in o my !,!1 d eriy Trothc-)r. 

Y -u- are a married ro=n? • Yes, 

'Ph at it our business? A Pipe fitter. 

Po you recall the lrti-! day of Jul:cr, 

rec1  e evening of th 

DO 7r 011 al . re call th e par17 

A Yes, 

Y 9, • 1.919? es, sir. 

Q. Tell .the Court and jury. in cmr own ay ier rO1 were 

,1 01 Q? Yes, sir. 

dpy A_ Yes, sir. 

rn np of 1 r7 t ? 

why you were there, what you were doing at the place in -ques-: 



Brooklyn that evening. 

ere? A Brooklyn, at 525 56th street v3roo1c1yn, 

I lift out there around one o'clock, and came in on the sub-

way, got off at the -orooklyn Bridge and <then took the I, the 

Third Avenue L to go home. I live richt next to the Third 

Avenue L-between 34th ,and 42nd et -poet I met a man who had work-

ed with me in Camp Raritan in J rse3r, at the krsenal out 

there; he asked me ,rro d hav a drink. cigar Olga to re-

• new ric (mai n t c.;e and so we decided to. get off at 42nd .,',..treet 

J..ind Third aV.enrie. o r:o over o this p1 ht i op en 9.f-

ter houns 1AI e went Ovr the.r 

Q, WJIer. 1  thie, 1.).c I c•on,t knov th 7,•• numb ..'here. was 

taxicab standing outside. 

Q. licl) :ecor:rJzr t th place? A v s. had 

j. f evf drink?, -..znr few' cip,••-irE alc• h.m car out ic decided . 

to h•••:.ve •• bite to eat I F F.L.)d C C t, the e•,. on .the • 

ovits de aa-ICa r 11 f: t • I.1 t • 

••yjashle ear,‘An -èdd vms. I ic:c him if be 

1.1 

6' I j thped irl fr. ach in el • tb ey 

o )i) ' by he officer, aid pi ...iced 1:nd r 

`2.'•• 

n -7 0 .=:••• abont Yr=s, .Eir. 

42nd Pt-e,..!t, aveni)e, 

af,.d • '',7o r?:.‘97 

, •• • nd •1.• r v,,a,s in ti inc.!? A, V r,2 ir 

in I 470:t jr 

. 1 1*** tar *.lt 

'}2ere. 

t 1111 al. 



was slanging to the -cat o p erhaps it tell off in•d tqa ey p-  

. it  insi de. 

CROSS' laAltaNATION BY 1,AR. Pc.Q7 

Q, What i s you ri-ght e? A Reardon. • 

Q. Were v oil ever known az Reidy? A .4 

Q,, Ever. kno-xn• for s .p a? 'A NP, 

sir.  

Q, ims”,-er the questions. ron, 17,• sh<e 7 cur h;? A  

Where GA. d you live on the 16th of,, July? A 348 ,:f.1,st 137:th 

Let me see• the origin -Fa papers. Di eyou sign an af'fL. 

• davit wk  en in the iv arrist •Court-? Ayss, 

Q, I ask you if that is 'ro:r sigr Ature ?. . A Yes, 

that is my - 'signature 

Q. This is T. T. Reilly, isnr.t; it ? 'A Yes, sir. 

iht acdress c.ii.•(-* you give ther 6? 

CUNNING:HAN : I  ob,..1 ect t o 

TR. P, QT.' D: T-f sqiiit. iàriJ. 

credibility. 

A The • cress I think I p; e .my moth= s .••••.-2 dress aSt 

Tremont avonu 

Q, Rh :A 'iimhr 61C  r? ir, 

Tb:32t, was rot yoivr true :(1:17 %3s ? A Nc my mo, 

t er a dress. 

on thetp;eZtior! of 

T17nt ,tras not name? sir.. 

Why sh Qui d 01.1 hive given.ou rc 

d-rese if YC-„) innanmn.f  



•"" 

I thought it would be in the newspere and th 

neighbors around where I live .little children going to .school, 

didn't want to have public attention by having me arrested, 

for. something that I was not concerned in. 

Q Where did you say you livedik, A At that time 348 

Fast- 137th street. 

- 

Q 348 Fast 137th street? A yes, sir. 

Q, Will you tell .he Co-rt and jury why you were driving 

Over to 8th avenite --Ind 42nd street? A To get a. bite to eat 

before went home. 

Q, It was three o'clock 'then?. A Around that, 

(4,. Three oiclo k -then you left the saloon? A Y e 8 sir 

around that time, I ain't positive about the time. 
re.111.•••••••••••••••*0•00001.,

 

Q, at iS• the name of the -man. in the saloon? A Jones. 

Q, •Jones? A Yes, sir. 

Q, A friend of yours? A I met him at work for Snare 

& Triest, out in the Arsenal .C.?,,mp Raritan, New -rersey. 

Q, How long have You, known him?  A This i the first time 

I met him -- arpurid two years ago. 

.9, You worked with him out there? A Yes,. sir'. 

Q, How long did. you work with him? A Well, the job• didnt 

last:very long,. out three or four weeks. 

9, - :.)id you -know he was cOnvi...? A o, sir. 

. it.: I NtAki : I 0 bj t -t.c .th . 

THH COURT: - he clid ,,ot.. 

: ave you. ever o-H-yen convicted?  A, 



-7-

Never been cOnvict d of a-crime? A 

Q Sure about that? A PosrEive. 

(4, Where were you in Brooklyn that night? A -525 56th 

street. 

Q. You eine-- what time was it when you got over here? -A 

I left over there around one o'clock. 

Q Yoll. left there at one o'clock? yes, sir. 59th 

street. 

Q You were over ther-e on business I understood you to 

gy?• A I was over there yisiting friend of mine, the ram-

ily. 

Q, Did you go alorie? A 'yesta sir. 

.9, You left there at one ot clock? A Yes,. sir; around 

one o'clock. 

Q, • C..sime to the Brooklyn ridge-by•T"   what? A By, the 

sub way, the .4th av Tr] e subway. 

Q, Got out there ',Ind go' .the 3rd ....venue L. A Yes,sirl . 

3rd avenue L. 

Q

 

And got off at 42nd street? A Yes; sir. 

Q her  was it you met; this Trarold ..Ton..s? A On: the 

- train. 

He is on of the 'men indicted in this indictment, isntt 

he? A I  don't know. 

Is he nOt a co- d :'.'2•ant D. s? A Harold 

gorie-s.i. that is what I know him by. 

• .• 



- .w; 
"Irglikk - 
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'CI He hasbeen 'indicted with you in this indictment 

he? A I believe he i 

What? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, you came out of there,-- how long were you 

this saloon there? A Well, three-quarters of an hour. 

Q Got there at what time? A I got there around three 

o'clock, must -h we been that becaues it takes that 1 (.4n4'gh of 

time it t akes to come over fr -„rooklyn. 

Q, *Got there at 2 o'clock? Ayes, sir. 
• 

Q ytTed there three-quarters of an hour? A YesIsir. 

Q, Jones and you were there? A Yes, sir. 

Who else was there? A were together, sitting down 

talking to him about work; we were in there having a drink 

ane a cigar and having at about workoverin New Iersey 

and workedwith him. 

Q.° Did you meet. VcGonigal in there? A lqo, sir. 

You didn8t-see hit in. that saloon at all? A Noisir. 

Did you see DWYer th saloon? A No , sir. 

You didn, t see hitt •in 'there at .all? A No, air. 

Q. Didn,t ..ttee him before? A No, sir. 

Q, :Did you see VcGoniga th-it night. tall'? . A NG,sir.• 

Q. Wasn t he one of the men in -tri e t axi c ab .w1-1got 

-in? A sir, he as not in 'the taxicab when I got in; 

:was -only-- Jones and I got in, the taxicab anc the chauffeur. • 

Q., The only two men and the phtraffeur-- only to men in 



taxicab? A Two men. inside Jones and 

•Then the officer ewe up arid opened. the- door there th 

were not three men that got out? - A There was two, and one 

man standing on the running board and one at the wheel. 

Jones .1-2d I inside. 

fe r „ 

Q There w  aii. on the running boa,rd? A 

The cfn auffeur was .-not on th •  rning boa, w 

e vsa.s, with, iTh.e Ch f et; r 

Q . 11 the: oh;luffeur Waa riot on the ruiining board? A- No, 

Q, 

Q. 

a was with hilt on his seat? 'A Yes,. 

A Dian on t1.-1,! running bo4rd :T.-1J you two inside? 

With this wh .(alc?._ A Yes, sir. 

Q.And the tire?. A yes,.., sir. 

•q„,.. Did it have • thoe. on • 'Gil it? A •T didn t notice; it. 

was dark. 

Q, When did you first se this T •he running board 

when you got in? ..A No, sir. 

T-T there then? 

Zlhere dia he come fru*? 

where he c sr -? fr orr,„ 

No, sir; he as not there. 

I couldn't tell you 

• 
:But you ar 2 e h was 1/4not in that t rozio b with,  . you. 

nd  j..ones?. A NO, not  inside. 
- 

Q, Not inside? -3 o, sir v\ but on thc running board? 



You felt a"little suspicious at three +alai:0,a that 

morning. A 11.e .wasn't there when I _got in the machine. 

Whyr didn:t you get  out, stop the machine and get 

out? A It was stopped when I seen him. - 
/ 

(4, You did not see him until the officer stopped yOu? 

A. That is the time I seen him. 

flhat side , of the taxicab wasYr. Tot-7'47T, s e at ed n the 

chauffeur? A I believe it- ifiaF!i the ight h :And si de." 

Q Th et would be t,he sicle that W a Ei north? A res, sir. 

Q:• This. ra41: was on the  -.1-'1,inning board next to 1i? • •A yet. 

vih en the officer says that it was on the sidewak 

side that the '.three- got out he a. riot teetif .),ccor ding to 

your recollection, is that •A Je ordered four to gt out 

when stopped the 'cab. 
4v. 

)oir got out of th e -cab?. ..Tlivo from  the inside 

•-vnd th chffeur md the othr fellow. 

You got. out on the side.walk ci.i.dnTt• you? A No, sir.; 

--;he north 'ii. c ' C ? 

weLk to where -h8 of fic' w.s, cJ &cci what w as the mat -

13t. nding there 

side of 41st street. 

•14, _You got out on the north aide of .„5 c nd went arottle 
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over to where the offieex wets? Ate, sir. 

• Q Where did you friend ;TO•nee go? 4 HE 

The . north. side of the cab?  A' Yes, 

. 4, T.Eaked around • away from yo-9 A Yes, sir to vhere the 

officer -vitas stending 

e t1i. 0 mo'o 1 1 - 1art  p 5,a/ Tai. k e d 

• tound • 't ere? A io  177 , 

did rrt. . )p ? ' • ;, • 'not 't i1  • 

.driveri to 0.1 e• West 3§V,-.) 8.•t .1•eet ation. 

. • Q.. 14 or did not tr t e car eft er 

had gotten out  did 

• -or. h would shoot? A F h ad ; I i1n,t what 

le €id. 

9.  Dldrit he s,;y ',Iortiething like that?. A. If..hfi hr .' said. 

it; to the ch..qffewr---

don , t know what conver sat, ion • wht, h T i. d not  

hear it. 

.iit be a6 txicirig t.)y the side of th e cab the s 0-th 

s :de of t,h e cab? A co/21 dri tt he 3.r ist h e said. 



the 

officer? A Bedause I could not op en the door. 

Which el d was the iheel on? A It was resting up 

.again st the back oppo sit e the two seats in the back up-

against the p art i ti on between where he ch auiffeur 

•was sitting.' 

Q, Di d yo LI sit in the back seat,.were you facing f d 

ear? A 1' 4. ding fc,rwa,v1..-i.. 

3s Jones ei t 1, a ere :rating „ orwar A 

.• 
You s th N.r.h• esl d c w 1 e ari ed. up •-,F; 92n st- the. 

ti on? A Yes sir 'facing ,ne chauffeur. 

sat -41'0 7.h ere 

So thit you 11 th chauffeur there Liass 

right hand. sid ecf,the, taxicab? A ma, 

And you had :!..•10:1roniu.l. .on the running board? A '..Yes. 

Q, Th,t., usu. e 1 e th th -4uffeur? A Th e eft hand  side 

Q, You tai MOM?' t -140.the •c' with th.e tiaauffeur, 

.st,.an ding on the ynning. bord Ab ,...ar.!.-13 side Lb,Ch '1:311141.-01:11.? 

r., •T di dn '1; ' say that. • .I e,.d .d he was next to the 

ch ff eur tO the left of t.h t.,h .v.f.feur, the. oh auffer .was sit-

g on he :right. • 

He •), s sitting on the, left, sitt1n7 down or et an ding 

up? A On the ig side sit tin down. 

Q, Th he could not 1-, -,ve be en next o the ch -3.31ffeur 

then, could he, if h e -as on the running bortrd, the south run-

ning board? A The mach in as facing, west, g,oing west. 

Q, Answer my 4t2 eS ti on -- if be •,-.9.13 on the.soUth r-nning 

board e could not have 'been next to the ch anffsur? He was 



unning_ board couldn'a 

ffeur was st ding on the running bo ard 

the south id.° of th e Str tet--

if the ch a77ff eur was s t ah di ng on the runni ng 

e south side of the street? - A It cGonigal 

•:Q, Standing on the running board? A On the south &Ida 

What is the chauffeurs name? A I believe it is Dciyer 

er was sittingto. the right, th at is rho north de. of 

, car going west. 

Q, Well, then it cC- oni F al was etding on thrirning 

board and y_f_a_sn.tt next to the cl-r7oz ffeur  was he? , sir; 

st -3.n ding, up -7i U.) • the ch au ff eur on the running board. 

If t- e chauffeur was On the right hand sidehe was on 

the north side of the car, wasn't he, if he was on the right 

hand side ? A Yes, sire the chauffeur was. 

Then you had your n fcGônigel st di lg on the running 

board on the tt.o,Ith side? -A Yes,sir. 

Q How cr. you say ending, next to the ch 

feur hen they were on op 1'o sit .„ sides? 

Obj ected to. 

0TH COUP.•T He av an ewer . 

A What I mean ie that the running bb ard oil the south 

side is the sid e of the au tomobil te he was st anding • on and di-

rectly opposit wher e-the eh ai(ffeur was sitting on  the north _ . 

side; that is what I had ref 'irence to. 

You say you were going over to 8th avebue to get somethi ng 



to eat? . A Yea, sir. 

Q, 3 o'clock in the.. morning? A yes, sir.. 

Q, A wife &,-1.(4 four children home? A I knee I would be 

rate in Brooklyn; they didn't expect me ilome until later. 

the first time I have been down there from -here I was working 

in some time-- I -ent around visiting friends, old friends. 

Around with friends? A Out to Brooklyn. 

Q, Aren,t there places nearer thin 8th - %menu e and 42nd 

stye-et to get a bite. to eat at three of clock in the Trorning? 

A I believe there was. 

flhy didn t you go there? A 'I lire to G here to- this 

pl ace. 

Q Nhat place? A. This r e kat aux.-ant, they put good 

ohiceki?, potpie . 

you knovi' of hilRe8turt in 42nd street 

ner Park avenue? A I believe there is. 

BY TEE' COURT: 

Q, And in t" there a restaurant called the cz-,'eek Restaurant 

or Lhe Athens Restaurant ri*t near park avenue an° 42n, street'? 

( -in ewer. ) 

BY R.  Mew AID: 

Q As:I f9ct you men to y you ,ren.t over to get 

chicekn potpie about three ol clock in the morning? A yes, sir 

before I ro home. 



•TT-Tf 

•Wife and four children waiti-nii for you? . A They knew_ 

I Would be out..I sent Word Wou3.dnIt be home tint/slate. 

Q, Well, thsee o'clock is pretty late in the morni.ng isnt 

o be going around for a married mvja. A Yes, sir. 

With Harriet Jones? A Yes, sir, if I hadn't met him 

sgiuldn t be oi; f, .50 ltte, just r en ev.sed an old -„cqu aint ance 

Fork. 

Now where r as the taxicab- when you got into it? A. It 

was opposite right •opposite the door of the saloon, alit-

tie ,bit more west more to the west of the side door, of this 

• saloon.. 

How Many feet west? A. Two or three. 

•Q, cher" was the chauffeur ',ph en you Cane out and ske 

for • a ride? A Wstilking up the street. 

Q, What do you 112111 from east walking from east? A Yes. 

np the street.? A. Yes,. sir. 

, He was walking west .a.lon(7 the street? A •Yes, sir. 

His entomcbil -as west of the saloon, is that it? 
A Yes,  

31.hat• made yo" think he sFas connected with he astomobile? 

called him and I slid, "Is this-s-oiir machine. 

Q fl was coming froM ioast towards thi s _automobile?. • 

A H ,rsas only fifteen or t;-e.sity feet away. 

your machine". 

Q, Is this your machine? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And he slid yes? A Yes, sir. asked him if he 

was -engaged in and he\sald no. 

a 

I -said "Is this 



•-When you got in the automobile there was no 

A No, sir; nobody in there at all. 

.Q Nobody on the running board? A N0, sir! 

Q Nobody seated in the chauffsuris seat? A No, 

There were only two men in there? Yes, sir. 

BY Tif 8: COURT: 

Q, Did.you pay a i-axicab driver to take you t 

nue? A Yes, eir. 

Q, W t_ i syqur _b_u sin eSs? :1-4. A pipe, 

ter. 

Q, Did you have any reason for not taking one of the 

•cross town cars that. go through 42nd street in th.e direction 

a Marine pipe fit -

of gth avenue? A I could have done that by vralking around 

42nd street but I vas out late enough and I thoLght that by 

taking altaxicab it would h rry me home. 
is 

Q 41st street, wher?. this trouble occurred-- all you had 

do wa.s to walk one block to the north and you would be in 

42nd street? A Yes, sir. 

You knew there ere cro sst own cars? A Yes, sir. 

Q, You preferred to t--ke a, taxicab? A Yes, sir. 

BY MR. McQUAID: 

Q, Do you travel in t,,xicabs very often? __No, sir..  

BY MR..TINNINGHAN: 

Q Now, Yr. Tleardon, this. r cin whom you me v--12 a171= 

with. whom you had walked some two years prior, sn‘jt that 

to 



col ebrat ion? 

meet him. 

a reunions 

was gl ad to See me and 

Q And v.hile ordinarily you do not travel in tax dabs 

still on this occasion you 3i d not, think it untoward to ••eng 

-t 5),,xi cab di d you? A O, sir. 

As far a.s th e 1 st en es s of the hour was cone ern ed '7,vhy 

this ran prevailed upon you to. have one more drink? 

Objected to; objection sustained. 

isy TIT COURT 

R 

between Park rnd -raei son aveDue. • 

de - pp-en as. t? • - A The side 'door • open.. 

. Do you know that. S C.iirinF the time f nrohibition 

was prevailing?• A Yes, sir. -

When was this, th e 14th Of In 41st. tret-

f Thispiace 

BY 11', R. (..771\TI NGI-1 AU • 

wide op en was ? A yes, sir. 

'Now, Yr. Ileaxdon I wasn't it dark on th at si 

when - you eng-d that auto!: obile? A Yes) 

dark. 

. Q, there any i;ht illnminating the place at all? 

A The c9fe. 

, 

it was rather 

Q gif 

That you. recall fro the  cafe? A sir; very "dim, 

re there •naly people passing. by on th at sidewalk 

at the time? A I only seen one. 

Q, You only seen one person? A Yes. 
- ........ 

anybody dy cortirr -As vou were leaving that e e d you iee 



• 

Q NOW the District Attorney has asked you about this 

address you gave at th e time you were arrested, that wets 

your mother address, wasn ,t it? A Yes, sir. 

Q, In giving the wrong n -el you felt th t. you -wan 

.to. bring my- disgrace or -any himili ati on upon your family? 

h.. kicQ,tJAU).:.I bjc La that. ift t eri 

COURT: I will -1 et bin: 

A  Ye, -ir. 

Q An s-;x- the oil, e s-t i on. . A I di dn t to oi eg. 

wife and I ,:trily nd 

BY COU ; 

Q

 

Now I ask. you this: f you h ao given ,orong nui 

and 4 correct ad reas dir T u f eI hey -voul 7,11, :{ou were 

the person .under -Lae ryor.it of Reardon? Reilly ws the narne I 

• gave. 

IT d Prly Thoth er 

Q eut suppose you had. given-- assuming. now 

gre- the name of ah-ci gr ior. corct address don't 

.• 
y:ou know • that v-roul c' ?(JO 

'iith h s o 

Y U as connoted or , 

1 of this critLe? 

rigflt arcress - • 

c.ant give the 

Stapp° • you h ar'•jiven ',rout, -1.-rht address, sow, differ-

ent n The, .t wrong nacre, wouldn th• a have cone tt ed your 

• identityt A Jell, I aci• not know. 

BY 111 . 0111,i NI NOB : 

Reardon l -et me ask 'ou tThis 11, e:sti on. At he-



u were laboring under a dist 

Weren you •f.NO,:i/neler0 

Q, You were distract ed? A Yes, sir, 

Q,  Yu felt. you were innocent? A I didn t know what it 

0. 

Of cour se you were bewildered, weren't you? 

That you were arrested?- Yes, sir, I '.didn,t, know. 

it 7,ras.for. 

.Q, frith ref FTerce. • o going to 42nd street. nd 8th avenue 

ta s °our e -samethinj; to eat. Ts it your custom - to dine in the 

14. 0 t. el elraont? A Jo, sir. 

Q, Cr.  theP.ark vrieHotel? A Ne sir. 

Or any on e of these other splendidly appointed hoe-

telri s in the vJ.cLnity of .42nd street and 5th avenue? A NO. 

Q, 8th avenue is  about your place I Sri it?-, A rcS, sir;,  

any place .h5 re it is reason ible price. 

T!cAtT AID: And where they hwe good chicken pie?' 

By 1,73 , ctri' NI :NCH 

Q, Hie Fon or h. al' sk2d :ruu why did  you 0 o and take 

e ..•wri car. Mov,, one minute isn, t .it a. fact h ,‘; 

run iner '1;111!:ntl:,.. t ti at hour rf the morning or don, You 

-know? A They do sometimes; I done t knaw about t t line. 

Q,'. You v-anted to ..go along in this sort of Ts:Ili-lion? 'A I 

wanted to 

•Q' 

zr.et aw.ay more quicker; it as getting so late. 

To ,A1.1.k from 4th ,ta. 8th vnue would hc‘v been a 



three o'clock? A That. would be of-crock. 

.Thoe blok about 850 feet from curb line" to 

line? A i couIdn t tell. 

Q, That would be le ee than a mile, and the amount you' 

would have to pay for a t axi cab ride W. aid be (No, answer) 

BY 11_13: AlL'Q,U AID: 

.tz Now one minute. You live up in 137th street? A Yes. 

H W was it you -ire so fwr...iliar with r est au r antO 

around ancli 42nb street? A Fell,. I have worked 

reune tl?ere at cif ent buildings. 

R, ovh •:tt is thc n -2 Of e '2811 attr t that. you hd the 

,thick-en pie.  in? A Rornecks. 

P-erei.e it? A. 41st. •._nd. 42nd ztreets on 8th aven.,7e,.. 

b you know any rest eur ant s. in the neighborhood of 

-ird" avenue? A N 

Q: And -1-`!nd street? A No, sir 

• Q, None over on 3rd avenue that you know of, . all night 

r avr an a? • A No,, sir. 

• None on 4nd reet en the Grand Central 

t 0:1. aria ihirc av eni:e 'or!  t „ soui-h ride? A Well there may" 

• b zon but I jnz.t th -gh t of thione;  I h aaot this 

food. C it  141 9. 8. ood and I thought I would try- it 

again. 

You d 0.6 di dnA 'M'en  tO tisgrace ther,. di that 

dn t you: say 

r- Yes, 

3t,  was. the r 9.130 11 Why 701) g...;:tr 4.: fi c-

VIrr. ci c ',01) a-4 -on r /Do 4h..r cr-r 4>s:109 

• 



' 

R I GK P. H ALL OR AN, a witness called onbaif 

of the 4.efendant being duly sworn, testified as followir-

(Th-e witness states he lives •at 336 East 24th street. 

DIRECT aAVIINATION BY 11R. 

Co)nty. 

What is vou3s bus-Ives? A Deputy. sheriff, New York 

Previous to that was 

of _Docks for about 16 years. 

roundsman in the. pepartment 

Do you know this. de.f en dant? sir. 

Q. Very intimately? A I know Thomas Reardon 16 Ve9,1"13. 

.knew Ms wife before he married her. 

Q Do you know the general reputation that this 

fendnt bears? A •:Excellent. 

Q, •You' say you have known the defendant how many years? 

Sixteen. 

Q, Do you know people with virl~,or he is intAimately con-

nected? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Who knows this defendant? A Yes., sir. 

ct Do you knoW th e general rutation that this de-

fendant bears for honesty in the comm-nity lo thich he resided? 

A Yes, err. 

Q Wh.i.t is th-t general reputation? A Hones- ..ind good, 

a hard working gian. 

:From your knowledge of his 

esty would you trust him? A Yes, sir. 

general reputation. for hon• 



' 

\ 
v.> 

my way, John J. ReClain, I know a .truckh an by th 

CROSS CEANIKATION BY BY 11R. McQUAID: 

.g Related 

A NO, sir. 

the defendant by marriage or otherpwise? 

4 tou live in East 24th street? A Yes, sir. 

Q Where does he live? .A F. telt 137th stret. 

Who do you know up there that knows 

his family and wife. 

A I know 

.q Is it her talk that has given.hir a good reputation in.. 

oUr Mind? A No, sir, I know the gentleman himaielf. 

And -the gentleman himpelf? A Yes, sir. 

What peoPl-e -do you know up there where he lives that 

know him?i A I know him from dovaltOwn--- my wayy people that 

know him down my way. 

Q, But the people up there where he lives have they 

talked to you about r" inything bout him?, (No answer..) 

qive, the na.mes and addresses? A I will give you the 

namedand a.cidr esse$ of p eppl e down .my way. 

asked you foT: nsin .9nd 'Iddr r.s.set3 of ,beople ip T,here? 

I ..drsn I t live up there. 

You con t kno unyboc. u p there? A. I know people dawn 

rrfi , Of 14; 

Lain 67th e t gentleman where. he _origin ally.. cam from, 

down roy way ; he 'a$ br3 en down • there I believe, to my knowledg 

4-,wo or threct, ,veek in the evening, outside of. the two 

jears" when hs was -*orking up the state somewh. er e with his 

orother-in-law. 



G11-' 
3 

-, • 

ou know Harry Jones? A Na,sir. 

Pe OLYN N,  witness call es on ,behalf of the.. 

def en rant, being duly sworn,- testified s follows: 

(The •witness states he live at346-Ea8t 18th street.) 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY R. CITNNINGRAX: 

Q. Mx.,IA'eGlynn do you know the defendant, Reardon? A yes. 

Q, Will yo U tell us how long you have known him? A 25 

. Q, Do you know 'people who know him intiMately? • A- Yes.. 

Q, Do you knov; what reputation he bears for honesty in 

the corrm-nity? A Yes, sir, very good. 

Q, .- You ay his generalieput-ation for honesty is 

very good? A Yes, sir. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY UR. MeQUAI.D: 

Q Do you know where -he lives? A east 137th ?treat. 

A YeS, _sir. 

nephews and six 

Q oyou know any people mho know him? 

Who? 

ni sees. _ 

•Q Then you know peopleNthere he IITes, I don't izes.n 

relatives? A Business men. 

A Anirrièd daughter and five 

Q Business men? A No, sir, I don't deal with business 

men up ther.e. 

Q, Outside of his own f amily? A His family and my family' 

T.?re in the Bronx. 

• Q, You don't know anybody else, any business men up the,,re 

A No, sir, in the 3ronx, but in Manhattan. 

Q. WA 0 i El- the business man in 11,...tnhattan that • knows this 



defendant? -A Yes, sir, I could have a lot of them cora 

ay' if I ever thought of it. 

So much inte?:vested in the defendant that you went after 

character witnesses? - A yes, sir, I W his bondsman. 

Q In this case? A yes, sir. 

R. CUNNINGHAM: The defense rests. 

ADELINE MAT II t? R, a witness for the people re-

called: 

BY PR. ycQUAID: 

Npvf, ,.Madam the car tAlich yOi have' ref erred..to in Your 

etimony what was that mounted on? A On 3. wire Varmon 

wheel. 

Q, What is the nom e of the -4.rh e.ea? A Marmon 1,thee1. 

Q So that was a wire wheel? Yes, sir, 

Q, With an iron rim set up On 'thiir;!t spokes? A Yes, sir. 

Q Do yo.0 know the market value of those wore whriels? 

CUNNINGHAM: I obj ect to that. No qu.aaification 

:shown. 

Q, Do you, know? A 3, e•-aled up -7 

Exception. 

0. 

Q Do *.you know the market value of such a xttieel as was 

on the rear of your machine on the niF.ht in question? A 

• aLLi,edup he, rg,ency. 

ce Of 3rour onw knowledge. A, NO,. sir. 

Q, Was it new wheel? A 'es, sir._ 

R. CITNIFIGH I rove -t, o strike i t out. 
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TH COUR . allow it to s an . 

CtJINGH P I r en .ew the motion to dismiss -the 

_indictment first on  the ground there is not any compet-

ent legal identification of the alleged stolen property. 

The alleged stolen property is not before this Court. 

This %roman from her testimony never identified the alleg-

ed stolen wheel and tube .nd tire as her prop .rty.It 

has not been produced here for the purpose of establish-

ing identification. I further move to dismiss the in-
- 

dictmetir and for the direction of a verdict of ac-

quittal 9tirthe ground that the evidence .produced .by 
, 

,the Reopil'e is insufficient to warrant a conviction. 
.. I 

_.- - TH1 COURT: Notion denied. 

UR. CUNNINGHAY : I f your Honor pl ease I furth er 

move to dismiss the indictzpent on the ground of variance 

between the allegation of ownership and the proof produced 

by the People, it being established here that the owner-

ship is not in Inadeline Mather as alleged and if. in ',,ny 

one the ownership is in the husbmd who is not befOre 

this Court. 

TlIq' COURT: That is the -,•,riance? 

(TTtTNING.HAN: The van i T. propos- to point out 

_s that the 0,,,rnership s allege() to be in Nrsr Na,ther 

-And the proof fails. to establish legal ownership. 

TH , COURT : She said 9)31 ong other things that sh and 

her husb 'and the owners of h automobile; th it was 



g Ten thet by her father n law. She had an un 

vide& int erest in the car and to st es.1 from herwouidbe 

st ealing" from her husbhnd and to steal from her husk*n 

would be stealing from her. They both had an interest 

in th e car. 

Nthl : I contelie that hr testIliony 

cos not establishth joint own er , of that au-

t °mobile. TYere •ras proof of .of, tt automo-

bile to this 1 

TH COM : iir f at h er i n-1 9g; gave• t 

e ers-elf-; •mToi)ld b'..e a 

f t. -rt.( that:7.1 • c it F,.tle.-

]VF.0.11- : There er • crt 210 

• in order to tror T.3. - tr nsfer 3;1: title. 

. movi 1 

flaw 

TH COT)Fil' d e'. o st.1 f; ',*/ th t the auto-
. 

e a 4,;i-ven to her h-er F h h 3r f.,th.er-in-ls, 

_ V-013:Alf.: ecti on c th.th 4.• tit/ e 

has riot 'beer €. fi el xit1r prcv.d. T'nere. .1 s one other el e-. 

rent in ecr1n of 1 c..n.v i cfn i. ind1epnble 

t1-1.-a • 0-ofn proved-- ,,;her e.is ..,he 

id en. ti fi E :L ol eh p7.-c,p rty.• 

5:7;i T : 
• 

Let in • (.11 cir F1-. anc es hat arc 

proved here.• Y•i 'k •••• don .t 

C wh n i asleft.,  there--', ther e az, • r e wh eel • 

'upon whicib movntedi r-obber e nt.f1 rtAlAter 



tire was an inner  tube. Mt-at at three o'clock in tke 

ing 41 officer eaw this. defendant go to that car. and 
tike the he3. therefrom; th t he carried.it to a tax 

- cab and placed it inside the taxicab, the officer ac-

costed him and stopped him a,nd found .the rubber 

the inner tube and the wire- wheel. 

7, CUNNINGHAM:.The identification of .71•Jich has 

never been established a,s is iequired under the law. 

TIT '1' COURT: The cf fi c er id en fi-ed Ft a the pr-

perty  7.7 as • t --:).1c en fror.• that 

. CUNNINGHAN: 9;t if your Honor pleaPe I clic,. not 

hear hi n t estify on this stand. or point to an3r object in 

this court s that prop arty. There is nothing before — 

this Court -- the wheel I s ot. here. I (.:id not hear the 

policeman testify that it is the iisth 

rh t axi a.b 

TIT 7 COURT: lIe a.i d it was th thel thet. had 

o 9en removed fror the a.-7 t,omoi-,i e by th defend -int and 

thit he saw in 

aken to I. e' t 9xicab nd when he lobk ed in the t a.xi ca) 

e saw ht identic&..wh sal there, F 'tire upon it and a 

tube in the „ire. 

libtion • denied. Fxception. 

( At 'thi point the Court a.dgiourned the. fur th er tri 

of the c1se until 3ñiiry 81 1920. . 

Kew Yoric „T arm exy 8 1920, 

W • I L L I A L H. 1 ILLB 11 R t.c.gi 1 . 
„cc. 
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